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PENALTIES & ENFORCEMENT
Section 11

Module 7

Module Objectives
At the end of this module, according to section 11 of the 
ESA or the Federal Sentencing Guidelines, you will be able 
to:

• State the maximum civil or criminal penalties that can be 
assessed for ESA violations.

• Identify options available to Federal agencies against 
federal lease or permit holders convicted of a criminal 
only ESA violation.
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Types of Penalties

– Civil 

– Criminal

Rewards and Incidental Expenses

Enforcement

Citizen Lawsuits
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Types of 
Penalties

Credit:  USFWS

Types of Penalties

Civil – compensation not punishment

• fine only, no jail time

• and/or forfeiture of fish, wildlife & plants  

• Intent not required

• lower burden of proof (preponderance of the evidence)
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Criminal

• fine and/or jail time
• forfeiture fish, wildlife, plants, 

equipment
• revocation of permits, leases, 

licenses, etc.  
• Proving Intent is required
• Higher burden of proof 

(beyond a reasonable doubt)

Types of Penalties
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Civil 
Penalties

Credit:  USFWS

Civil Penalties

Civil penalties can apply to:

• knowing section 9 violations ≤ 
$25,000 per violation.

• knowing report/record keeping 
violations ≤ $12,000 per violation

• non-knowing = $500.00

• self-defense = no penalty

• Solicitor/Civil Division of the U.S. 
Attorney’s Office

(16 USC 1540(e)(4)(A))

Credit:  Dr. Christopher Servheen/USFWS

Criminal 
Penalties
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Criminal Penalties

Criminal penalties can apply to:

• knowing section 9 violations (trafficking) ≤ $100,000 and/or ≤ 1 
year of prison for individual and ≤ $200,000 for corporations.

• Record keeping or report filing ≤ $25,000 per violation and/or ≤ 6 
months in prison.

• Federal Court

• Prosecuted by the Criminal Division of the U.S. Attorney’s Office.  

Credit:  USFWS/LE

Criminal Penalties

Upon conviction Federal agencies may: 

• Immediately modify, suspend or revoke licenses, 
leases, permits,  including Federal grazing leases, 
hunting/fishing privileges

• collect fines + the value of wildlife taken.
• confiscate items used in the violation

16 USC 1540(e)(4)(B)

Credit:  USFWS

Civil vs. Criminal Penalties

Civil Penalties

Knowing Section 9 
violations 

• $25,000/violation

• Species forfeiture

• No jail

Record Keeping/Filing

• $12,000/violation

Unknowing 

• $500/violation 

Self-Defense - No penalty

Criminal Penalties

Knowing Section 9 
violations 

• $100,000/violation and/or 
one year jail  for individuals

• $200,000/violation for 
organizations.  

Record Keeping/Filing
• $25,000/violation and/or 6 

months jail 
• Equipment & species 

forfeiture
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Rewards

Reward - Payable for information which leads to –
Arrest
Criminal Conviction
Civil Assessment Penalty
Forfeiture of Property

. . . for any violation of the Act or regulations

16 USC 1540(d)
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Additional Expenses

• Incidental Expenses – costs incurred in providing 
temporary care of confiscated species.

• Funding for rewards and incidental expenses comes 
from penalties, fines, and forfeitures.

• Clean-up costs

Credit:  USFWS

Enforcement

Credit:  I likE plants!/Flickr.com
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Enforcement

Authorized employees can detain and inspect import/export 
packages, contents and documents during import.

Most Federal agents: make arrests; serve warrants/court 
orders; confiscate fish, wildlife or property.

Federal judges issue search and arrest warrants.

Credit:  John and Karen Hollingsworth/USFWS

Citizen 
Lawsuits

Credit:  USFWS
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Citizen Lawsuits

Citizens can bring suit in District Court against 
any person or the Government:

• for a violation of ESA or its regulations;

• to compel the Secretary to enforce ESA; 

• for failure to list a species.
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Time for Exercises!

Credit:  istockphoto.com

Conclusion
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Module Objectives

• State the maximum civil or criminal penalties that can be 
assessed in accordance with section 11 of the ESA or 
the Federal Sentencing Guidelines.

• Identify options available to Federal agencies against 
federal lease or permit holders convicted of a criminal 
ESA violation as identified in section 11. 

Credit:  Rick Pollack/Flickr.com
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Review

Credit:  USFWS

Review

Civil Penalties: each violation –

• Knowing Section 9 violation = $25,000. 

• Knowing (Record keeping) violation = $12,000.  

• Non-knowing violation = $500.00.

• No jail time.  

• No penalty assessed for self-defense.

• Initiated by Solicitor or Civil Division of U.S. Attorney’s 
Office.  

Review

Criminal Penalties:  each violation –

• Section 9 violation = $100,000 fine and/or up to 1 year 
in jail for individuals.  

• $200,000 for organizations.  

• Knowing (Record keeping) = $25,000 fine and/or six 
months in jail.

• Heard in Federal Court 

• Forfeiture of property, federal permits, leases, 
licenses.
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Review

• Most federal agencies can enforce ESA.

• Rewards and incidental expenses may be paid.

• Citizens can bring suits against the government for not 
enforcing ESA.
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